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He was given a Mexican name, Miguel Blanco, which is the Spanish form of
Michael White.

White may have first settled in the San Pedro area, although there was no permanent
settlement there at that time of his arrival. San Pedro was part of the Rancho Los
Palos Verdes, owned by the Sepulveda family, and was a desolate place. His living
in San Pedro is supported by his name appearing on early records as being one of
the ship builders of the Guadalupe, which was constructed there at Goleta Point in
1830. White, along with former pirate, Joseph Chapman, constructed the schooner,
Guadalupe from the remains of the brig, Danube, which ran aground in a storm on
Christmas Eve, 1828. The vessel was built for the padres of the San Gabriel
Mission to be sold to sea otter traders. White sailed the Guadalupe to Mazatlan and
returned in 1832. Upon his return from Mexico, White married Maria del Rosaria
Gullien, who was a daughter of Dona Eulalia Perez de Gullien, the old matron and
bookkeeper at the San Gabriel Mission. Following his marriage, White set up a
small store at Rancho Los Nietos, a short distance south of the mission.

Smuggling was a common practice along the California coast in the 1830s.
Mexican authorities imposed high tariffs upon imported goods, which was
desperately needed by the citizens of the province. The settlers in California were
neglected by Mexico and there was no industry, so there was a heavy reliance upon
trade with foreign vessels and smuggling was generally accepted by the citizenry.
White may have been involved in a smuggling scheme in San Francisco in 1833.
Although a man named White was accused of this illegal deed, it has never been
determined that the implicated individual named White was the same as Michael
White.

In 1836, White was listed as living at Los Angeles, but as a former world
adventurer, he had the wanderlust to move again. Three years later he went to New
Mexico where he may have involved himself in the fur trade. He returned to San
Gabriel with the Rowland and Workman Party in early November 1841. Later,
William Workman and John Rowland, the party leaders, would acquire former San
Gabriel Mission land known as Rancho La Puente.

In 1843 White was granted Rancho Muscupiabe by Governor Manuel
Micheltorena. It was a single league of land located near the Cajon Pass in the San
Bernardino Mountains. It was named for a Serrano Indian village in the vicinity.
The remote rancho was subjected to frequent raids by Paiute Indians and their allies;
therefore, it was abandoned in 1844 because it was indefensible. The following
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year, White participated in the revolt against Governor Manuel Micheltorena. He
was a member of the company of foreigners led by William Workman at the Battle
of Cahuenga late February 1845.

After a failed attempt with Rancho Muscupiabe, Miguel Blanco had another chance
to become a ranchero. Due to the Mexican Secularization Act of 1834, all mission
properties in California were available for sale. In 1845, White received a
concession to 500 square varas (77.23 acres) of land north of the San Gabriel
Mission from Governor Pio Pico. This tract was one of several smaller land grants
in the area given to former associates of the secularized mission. White may have
had the land bestowed upon him for his service to the mission and for building the
Guadalupe fifteen years prior. Also, being the son-in-law of the influential, Dona
Eulalia, may have helped some. White named his small concession Rancho San
Ysidro (Ranch of Saint Isidore) ...

After receiving the grant, he built the adobe dwelling, which stands today at San
Marino High School. The original adobe section of the house was a story and a
half. Later, a two-story wing made of wooden ship siding was added. White
planted a vineyard and an orchard consisting of a variety of fruit trees. Although,
this became his permanent home, he still yearned to travel and in passing years he
embarked on several sea voyages.

The year 1846 brought war between the United States and Mexico. California
entered the war in June of that year with the American invasion of Monterey. Los
Angeles was the next to fall into the hands of the invaders two months later. In
September, a revolt led by Serbulo Varela expelled the American garrison holding
the pueblo. By this time, a party of fifteen foreign born (mostly American) yet
naturalized Mexican citizens led by Benjamin Davis Wilson were stationed at
Rancho del Chino to protect the eastern frontier from enemy forces that may
approach from the Cajon Pass. The Californios doubted the loyalty of Wilson’s
men and set out to arrest them. Varela, Diego Sepulveda and Ramon Carrillo left
Los Angeles with about fifty men, while Carmen Lugo with another fifteen to
twenty men left from San Bernardino to converge upon Rancho del Chino ...

After the war, and after California was admitted to the Union, the United States
Land Commission was formed. White had to prove his claim to his little parcel
north of the mission. He was able to do so and continued living there for many
years. Here, he raised a large family and when his children married he gave the
lots upon his ranch so that they could raise their own families. One daughter
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married Francisco Alvarado, the brother of Governor Jose Alvarado. The
Alvarados lived on a quaint farm on the White Tract.

Eventually, White sold San Ysidro to L. H. Titus, who owned an adjoining ranch
to the east. Titus, in turn sold the property to James C. Flood. Michael White, also
known as Miguel Blanco, died in 1885. (Kielbasa 1997)

According to BLM GLO files, by 1892, 160 acres of White’s property in San Bernardino
County, containing the subject property, were patented to Albert G. Pier. In 1891, Pier was
recorded in the San Bernardino city directory as a farmer living in Ivanpah near the California-
Nevada border (Ancestry.com 2011a). In 1888, he was listed in voter registration records as
residing in Hesperia, California (Ancestry.com 2011b). In 1900, he lived in Madera County,
California with his brother (Ancestry.com 2004). Pier passed away in Madera County from
tuberculosis in 1903 (Ancestry.com 2017).

Although the land was not officially patented to Pier until 1892, he was already utilizing
it, and in 1891, actually sold the northwest quarter of the northwest quarter of Section 20, which
includes the current project, to B.F. Thorpe et al. (Daily Courier 1891). Benjamin F. Thorpe lived
in the Los Angeles area in the 1890s and in Covina from at least 1906 until 1920, and again
between 1921 and 1936 (San Bernardino County Sun 1936). Thorpe is listed on the 1920 Federal
Census as residing on Lilac Road in Bonsall Hills in San Diego County, where he managed the
Canfield Estate Ranch (Ancestry.com 2010). While at the ranch, Thorpe also served as president
of the Chamber of Commerce of Northern San Diego County, vice president of the Oceanside
Chamber of Commerce, and a director of the San Diego Chamber of Commerce. He also acted as
a director of the Farm Bureau (McGrew 1922). Thorpe can be found in Bonsall directories until
1921; however, by the time that the 1930 Federal Census was conducted, he had returned to Covina
where he worked as an orange grower (Ancestry.com 2002). Thorpe passed away in Los Angeles
in 1957 (Ancestry.com 2012).

Although San Bernardino County records indicate that the property was developed in 1927,
no structures are visible in the location of the 5187 Sierra Avenue residence until between 1953
and 1958. From 1956 to 1958, the 5187 Sierra Avenue residence was occupied by William F. and
Adeline P. White (Ancestry.com 2017). As there was record of the building in 1956, it was likely
constructed between 1953 and 1956.

In 1960, only Adeline White was recorded in voter registration records as residing at the
property (Ancestry.com 2017). In 1964, she lived on Redwood Avenue in Fontana, and in 1969,
moved to Oceanside where she worked for Pacific State Hospital for 13 years. Adeline White
passed away in Oceanside, California in 1991. Her obituary states that she was preceded in death
by William but it doesn’t indicate what year he died, and no record of his death could be located
(North County Times 1991).
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In 1965, the property was used as “Remy’s Riding Stable” for teenagers and adults “ages
16 and over” (San Bernardino County Sun 1965). In 1977, the property was owned by John and
Rena (née Bird) Edmiston. The couple was married in San Bernardino in 1965 (Ancestry.com
2007a). However, no records could be located indicating that the couple resided at the property.
During 1977, the Edmistons divorced and sold the property to Michael and Donna Harris
(Ancestry.com 2007b). In 1978, the Harrises sold it to Seborn and Mary Griffith, who retained
ownership until 1989. It is unclear if Seborn and Mary Griffith lived at the property and no
information about the couple could be located, but from 1978 to 1980, Nathan Raymond Griffith
and his wife Marian, lived at the property. Nathan Griffith was in his 30s when he lived at the
property (San Bernardino County Sun 1978, 1980).

In 1989, the property was sold to Donald and Kimber Lance and that year, Philip G. Sparks
lived at the property (Ancestry.com 2010). No information could be located about the Lances or
Sparks. In 1991, Marion Gaylord lived at the property. In 1992, David L. Jason is listed as the
occupant, and in 1993, Gaylord is listed as residing at the home again (Ancestry.com 2010). No
information could be located about Gaylord or Jason.

In 1995, Robert P. Killins lived at the property. Killins was previously arrested in 1991
for drug possession when a fire started at his home in Colton, which was caused by Killins
manufacturing methamphetamines (San Bernardino County Sun 1991). The fire that damaged the
kitchen of the 5187 Sierra Avenue building occurred while Killins was living at the home.

Gaylord was recorded at the property again in 1996 (Ancestry.com 2010) and in 2001 and
2002, Don Lange lived at the property (Ancestry.com 2010). Between 2014 and 2018, Alexandria
“Burgou” lived at the property and between 2016 and 2020, Patricia “Burgoues” is listed as a
resident. Nicholas Lewis Wagner was also recorded as residing at the property between 2013 and
2020 (Ancestry.com 2010).

3.3.2 Description of Surveyed Resource

The 5187 Sierra Avenue single-family residence was constructed between 1953 and 1958
in the Spanish Revival architectural style. The building was originally constructed with a
rectangular footprint until a square room addition was built onto the east side of the north fagade
between 1966 and 1980 (Plates 3.3-3 and 3.3—4), according to aerial photographs. West of the
addition is a non-original, wood-framed carport that was constructed in 1995. The residence has
been recently painted and restuccoed. The roof was repaired in 1995 due to fire damage under the
kitchen in the southeast portion of the building. As part of the repairs, the south and east walls
were also replaced at the southeast corner, as well as the windows in those locations. The
architectural features on the primary (west) facade appear original.
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Access to the front entry is from the west facade, but the front door is on the east fagcade
under the covered front porch (Plate 3.3—5). The porch is side-gabled and features a window on
the west facade that has decorative keyhole scalloping above and an entryway opening with
keyhole scalloping on the east facade (Plate 3.3—6). The west fagade of the porch features battered,
flared walls. The front door is a solid wood panel door with a metal security screen installed in
front and is accessed via a concrete walkway with three steps (Plate 3.3—7). A stucco half-wall
surrounds the uncovered portion of the front porch.

Windows throughout the building are a mix of aluminum- and vinyl-framed, horizontal-
sliding, single-hung, and fixed sash. The window on the west facade south of the front entry is
single-hung aluminum sash and the window on the west facade north of the front entry exhibits a
fixed, full elliptical, wood-framed window above an aluminum sash, horizontal-sliding window.
A majority of the windows exhibit decorative wood frames that have been painted dark grey (Plates
3.3-8 to 3.3-10).

The rear door on the east fagade is a solid wood panel door with a metal security screen
installed in front. The door is accessed via two concrete steps that lead to a concrete slab patio
and is set under a metal-covered, wood-framed awning, which was constructed after 1966 (Plates
3.3-11 and 3.3-12).

The roof is cut up with a flat roof over the main portion and two front-facing gables on the
west facade that are covered in red tile roofing (see Plate 3.3—6). The flat-roofed portion of the
building exhibits a stuccoed parapet with red tile trim. The roof of the addition is flat and exhibits
exposed rafter tails along the edges (see Plate 3.3—12).

Underneath the carport on the west facade is an additional entry door leading to the
addition. The door is a solid wood-panel door with a metal security screen installed in front and
is accessed via a set of wood steps (Plate 3.3—13). Also under the carport on the north fagade of
the original portion of the building is a single, wood-framed, fixed-pane window (Plate 3.3—14).
This window appears to be the only remaining original window in the building.

3.3.3 Significance Evaluation

CEQA guidelines (Section 15064.5) address archaeological and historic resources, noting
that physical changes that would demolish or materially alter in an adverse manner those
characteristics that convey the historic significance of the resource and justify its listing on
inventories of historic resources are typically considered significant impacts. Because demolition
of the building within the project would require approval from the City of Fontana as part of the
proposed project, CEQA eligibility criteria were used to evaluate the historic building. Therefore,
criteria for listing on the CRHR were used to measure the significance of the resource.
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!
Integrity Evaluation
When evaluating a historic resource, integrity is the authenticity of the resource’s physical

identity clearly indicated by the retention of characteristics that existed during its period of
construction. It is important to note that integrity is not the same as condition. Integrity directly
relates to the presence or absence of historic materials and character-defining features, while
condition relates to the relative state of physical deterioration of the resource. In most instances,
integrity is more relevant to the significance of a resource than condition; however, if a resource
is in such poor condition that original materials and features may no longer be salvageable, then
the resource’s integrity may be adversely impacted.

In order to determine whether or not the building is eligible for listing, CRHR eligibility
criteria were used. Furthermore, BFSA based the review upon the recommended criteria listed in
the National Register Bulletin: How to Apply the National Register Criteria for Evaluation
(Andrus and Shrimpton 2002). This review is based upon the evaluation of integrity of the
buildings followed by the assessment of distinctive characteristics.

1.! Integrity of Location [refers to] the place where the historic property was constructed
or the place where the historic event occurred (Andrus and Shrimpton 2002). Integrity
of location was assessed by reviewing historical records and aerial photographs in order
to determine if the building had always existed at its present location or if it had been
moved, rebuilt, or its footprint significantly altered. Historical research revealed that
the 5187 Sierra Avenue building was constructed in its current location between 1953
and 1958, and therefore, retains integrity of location.

2.! Integrity of Design [refers to] the combination of elements that create the form, plan,
space, structure, and style of a property (Andrus and Shrimpton 2002). Integrity of
design was assessed by evaluating the spatial arrangement of the building and any
architectural features present. The 5187 Sierra Avenue single-family residence was
originally constructed between 1953 and 1958 in the Spanish Revival architectural
style. The changes made to the building since its initial construction include:
construction of an addition at the northeast corner of the building; construction of a
carport onto the north fagade; construction of a concrete patio and wood awning on the
east fagade; and replacement of all original windows with vinyl- and aluminum-framed,
horizontal-sliding windows. The addition onto the north facade altered the original
form, plan, space, structure, and style of the property due to its size and the use of
Contemporary-style elements and materials that differ from the Spanish Revival style
of the building. Currently, the building is a mixture of Spanish Revival- and
Contemporary-style elements with all but one of the original windows having been
replaced with aluminum versions. Therefore, the building no longer conveys the
appearance of a 1950s Spanish Revival-style residence and does not retain integrity of
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design.

I Integrity of Setting [refers to] the physical environment of a historic property. Setting

includes elements such as topographic features, open space, viewshed, landscape,
vegetation, and artificial features (Andrus and Shrimpton 2002). Integrity of setting
was assessed by inspecting the elements of the property, which include topographic
features, open space, views, landscape, vegetation, man-made features, and
relationships between buildings and other features. The 5187 Sierra Avenue building
was constructed between 1953 and 1956. During that time, the surrounding area was
largely rural and vacant. Aerial photographs show the construction and removal of
various structures behind the residence through the 1980s. By the mid-1990s, the area
east of the property had been developed for residential homes and by the mid-2000s,
the area to the southeast had been developed for a Target import/distribution center.
By 2016, the Target center had expanded to the west and residential development had
expanded north of the subject property. While commercial and residential development
has occurred in the vicinity of the project since the 1950s, the area immediately
surrounding the property has remained rural and vacant. Therefore, the property retains
integrity of setting.

I Integrity of Materials [refers to] the physical elements that were combined or

deposited during a particular period of time and in a particular pattern or
configuration to form a historic property (Andrus and Shrimpton 2002). Integrity of
materials was assessed by determining the presence or absence of original building
materials, as well as the possible introduction of materials that may have altered the
architectural design of the building. The 5187 Sierra Avenue single-family residence
was originally constructed between 1953 and 1958 in the Spanish Revival architectural
style. The changes made to the building since its initial construction include:
construction of an addition at the northeast corner of the building; construction of a
carport onto the north fagade; construction of a concrete patio and wood awning on the
east fagade; and replacement of all original windows with vinyl- and aluminum-framed,
horizontal-sliding windows. The materials used in the construction of the addition and
the carport, and to replace the windows, are not associated with the Spanish Revival
style but are instead reflective of the Contemporary style. Because these materials are
representative of a different time period than the Spanish Revival style and the original
configuration of materials has been altered, the 5187 Sierra Avenue building does not
retain integrity of materials.

I Integrity of Workmanship /refers to] the physical evidence of the labor and skill of

a particular culture or people during any given period in history (Andrus and
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Shrimpton 2002). Integrity of workmanship was assessed by evaluating the quality of
the architectural features present in the building. The original workmanship
demonstrated by the construction of the 5187 Sierra Avenue residence appears to have
been average. The building has been substantially modified since its initial
construction as a Spanish Revival-style residence, and the addition and the carport
exhibit a lower level of workmanship than the original building. In addition, while the
keyhole openings and flared walls on the primary facade are unique, they are not
representative of the labor and skill of a particular culture or people during any given
period in history. Therefore, the 5187 Sierra Avenue building does not possess
integrity of workmanship.

I Integrity of Feeling [refers to] a property’s expression of the aesthetic or historic

sense of a particular period of time (Andrus and Shrimpton 2002). Integrity of feeling
was assessed by evaluating whether or not the resource’s features, in combination with
its setting, conveyed a historic sense of the property during the period of construction.
As noted previously, the building retains integrity of setting and location; however,
modifications made to the building since its initial construction have negatively
impacted its ability to convey its historic date of construction. Therefore, the building
does not retain integrity of feeling.

Integrity of Association /refers to] the direct link between an important historic event
or person and a historic property (Andrus and Shrimpton 2002). Integrity of
association was assessed by evaluating the resource’s data or information and its ability
to answer any research questions relevant to the history of the Fontana area or the state
of California. Historical research indicates that the building is not associated with any
significant persons or events. None of the individuals who owned or lived in the
building were found to be significant and no known important events occurred at the
property. Therefore, the building has never possessed integrity of association.

The 5187 Sierra Avenue building was only determined to retain integrity of location but

not integrity of design, materials, workmanship, or feeling. In addition, the building never
possessed integrity of association.

CRHR Evaluation

For a historic resource to be eligible for listing on the CRHR, the resource must be found

significant at the local, state, or national level, under one or more of the following criteria:

CRHR Ceriterion 1:
It is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad
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patterns of California’s history and cultural heritage.

It was discovered through historical research that no significant events could be
associated with the 5187 Sierra Avenue building. Because the property could not be
associated with any specific historic event, the building is not eligible for designation
under CRHR Criterion 1.

CRHR Ceriterion 2:
1t is associated with the lives of persons important in our past.

Historical research revealed that the 5187 Sierra Avenue building is not associated with
any persons important in our past. Therefore, the building is not eligible for designation
under CRHR Criterion 2.

CRHR Ceriterion 3:

It embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of
construction, represents the work of an important creative individual; or possesses
high artistic values.

The 5187 Sierra Avenue single-family residence was constructed between 1953 and
1958 in the Spanish Revival architectural style. The Spanish Revival style is
considered common for the region and was used in southern California from the 1920s
until the 1940s. Spanish Revival-style elements, as indicated by McAlester (2015),
include: “low-pitched roof, usually with little or no eave overhang; red tile roof
covering; typically with one or more prominent arches placed above door or principal
window, or beneath porch roof; wall surface usually stucco; wall surface extends into
gable without break (eave or trim normally lacking beneath gable); facade normally
asymmetrical.”

More elaborate residences built in the Spanish Revival style will also exhibit
dramatically carved doors emphasized by spiral columns, pilasters, carved stonework,
or patterned tiles. They will also often possess at least one large focal window, which
is generally triple-arched or parabolic in shape, often filled with stained glass.
Decorative window grilles or balustrades are also common in high-style examples.
More elaborate designs can include tile vents, decorative chimney tops, fountains,
arcaded walkways, walled entry courtyards, twisted spiral columns, and round or
square towers.
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The 5187 Sierra Avenue building exhibits all of the Spanish Revival-style elements
listed by McAlester (2015), except for the low-pitched roof, since the front-gabled
portions are moderately to steeply pitched. In addition, the residence features a large
focal window on the primary (west) facade.

While the residence does possess Spanish Revival characteristics, the modifications
made to the building have altered the original form, plan, space, and style of the
building through the addition of Contemporary-style elements. In addition, the period
of significance for the Spanish Revival style in which the building was originally
designed is from the 1920s to the 1940s. Since the building was constructed between
1953 and 1958, the building is not representative of the 1920s to 1940s period in which
the Spanish Revival style is most significant. As such, the building does not embody
distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction. In
addition, modifications made to the building beginning in the 1960s negatively affected
the building’s integrity of design, materials, workmanship, and feeling. Therefore, the
building is not considered architecturally significant, was not constructed using
indigenous materials, is not a valuable example of the use of indigenous materials or
craftsmanship, and is not eligible for designation under CRHR Ceriterion 3.

e/ CRHR Ciriterion 4:
1t has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history.

The research conducted for this study revealed that because the 5187 Sierra Avenue
building is not associated with any significant persons or events and was not
constructed using unique or innovative methods of construction, it likely cannot yield
any additional information about the history of Fontana or the state of California.
Therefore, the building is not eligible for designation under CRHR Criterion 4.

3.4 Discussion/Summary

During the field survey, one historic building was identified. The historic residence at 5187
Sierra Avenue has been recorded as Temp-1. No other cultural resources were observed during
the survey. Site Temp-1 has been evaluated as not historically or architecturally significant under
any CEQA criteria due to a lack of association with any significant persons or events and not being
a representative example of any specific architectural style, period, or region. Because the building
is not eligible for listing on the CRHR, no mitigation measures are required for any future
alterations or planned demolition of the building.
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